SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-00130

Appealed from Jackson County Circuit Court Cause Number CI-2007-00,034(1)

LORETTA MILYANOVICH

APPELLANT

VERSUS

DOUGLAS E. FEELEY

APPELLEE

NOTICE OF CORRECTION TO CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ON APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

COMES NOW, Loretta Milyanovich, Appellant, in the above styled and numbered cause, by and through its attorneys of record, LoCoco & LoCoco, P.A., and respectfully gives notice that the Appellant's Initial Brief and Appellant's Record Excerpts was served on the Trial Court Judge on July 25, 2008.

Respectfully submitted,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Nature of the case
B. Course of the proceedings
C. Disposition of the case
D. Statement of Facts
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT7
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CASES/AUTHORITY

Cases:
Bennett v. McCaffrey, 937 So. 2d 11, 15 (Miss. 2006)
Kingston v. Splash Pools of Mississippi, Inc., 956 So.2d 1062 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) 14, 15
Mitchell v. Brown, 835 So.2d 110 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
Statutes:
LA Civ. Code Art. 29
Mississippi Code Annotated § 13-3-63 (2007)
Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-19-57 (2007)
Mississippi Code Annotated § 63-1-19 (2007)
Mississippi Code Annotated § 93-11-65 (2007)
Rules:
Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d)(2)(A)
Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(h)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the lower court erred in granting Feeley's Motion to Dismiss.
- II. Whether the lower court erred in denying Milyanovich's Motion to Reconsider.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the case:

The Appellant (plaintiff), Loretta Milyanovich, sued Appellant (co-defendant), Douglas E. Feeley, and (co-defendant) Karlon J. Eckert for injuries she sustained in a motor vehicle accident that occurred on March 2, 2004, in Jackson County, Mississippi. (Compl., R. at 000004 - 000007).

B. Course of the proceedings:

The Complaint was filed on February 28, 2007. (Compl., R. at 000004 - 000007). The case against Appellee, Douglas E. Feeley, was dismissed on October 15, 2007 by the Honorable Robert P. Krebs. (J., R. at 000066). The case against co-defendant, Karlon J. Eckert, is active and remains pending in the Circuit Court of Jackson County. (Docket, R. at 000001-000003). Currently, discovery is ongoing. Id. A trial date has not yet been requested or set. Id.

C. Disposition of the case:

On October 15, 2007 Judge Krebs entered a Judgment of Dismissal Without Prejudice as to the Appellant, Douglas E. Feeley, and Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Additional Time to Serve Process on Douglas E. Feeley. (J., R. at 000066). Then, on December 17, 2007, Judge Krebs entered an Order denying the Plaintiff's Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider Order Granting Motion to Dismiss and Judgment Thereon. (Order, R. at 000116). This is an appeal from both rulings. (N. of Appeal, R. at 000117).

D. Statement of facts:

On March 2, 2004, the Appellant, Loretta Milyanovich ("Milyanovich"), was traveling in her vehicle northbound on Highway 613 in Moss Point, Jackson County Mississippi. (Police Rep., R. at 000032; Compl., R. at 000004 - 000007). Appellee, Douglas E. Feeley ("Feeley"),

was traveling in his vehicle southbound on Highway 613. <u>Id.</u> Feeley admitted to the police that he was chasing a suspected shoplifter from his workplace at the time, a Fred's store also on Highway 613. <u>Id.</u> Feeley was speeding according to witnesses, and there was evidence in the road of a long skid mark. <u>Id.</u> at 000032-33. Feeley was estimated to be traveling at 60 miles per hour. <u>Id.</u> Defendant, Karlon J. Eckert ("Eckert"), was traveling in his vehicle westbound on Rosa St., which intersected Highway 613. <u>Id.</u> at 000032. Eckert, who failed to yield, was crossing the southbound lane of traffic when Feeley, traveling at an excessive speed, then struck Eckert's vehicle pushing into the path of Milyanovich, causing personal injury to Milyanovich. <u>Id.</u> Milyanovich committed no negligence and did not contribute in anyway to the accident as she was simply driving her vehicle in her lane of traffic. (Police Rep., R. at 000032).

At the time of March 2, 2004 accident, Feeley was 17 years old, nearly 18. (Aff. of Feeley, R. at 000021). The car Feeley was driving at the time of the accident, a 1985 Mercury Grand Marquis, was owned by him. (MS Motor Veh. Registr., R. at 000040-41; Police Rep., R. at 000034). That vehicle was registered in the State of Mississippi and was registered at 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. (MS Motor Veh. Registr., R. at 000040-41). Similarly, at the time of the accident, March 2, 2004, Feeley held a State of Mississippi Driver's License listing his residence as 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. (Police Rep., R. at 000033).

On February 28, 2007, Milyanovich filed her Complaint against both Feeley and Eckert. (Compl., R. at 000004 - 000007). On April 16, 2007, Milyanovich served Feeley with process at 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565 by serving Feeley's father, Thomas Feeley. (Proof of Service, R. at 000018-20). At the time of service, April 16, 2007, Feeley was twenty (20) years old, only three (3) months shy of his twenty-first (21st) birthday. (Aff. of Feeley, R. at 000021). At the time of service on April 16, 2007, Feeley had renewed his Mississippi Drivers' Licence

and again listed his residential address as 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. (Driver License Record, R. at 000101). Similarly, although Feeley had a new vehicle other than the one involved in the accident, at the time of service on April 16, 2007, Feeley owned a 1992 Chevrolet truck and registered it with the State of Mississippi at 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. (MS Motor Veh. Registr., R. at 000044-45). After serving Feeley's father at what clearly appeared to be Feeley's residence, the process server mailed a copy to Feeley's residence. (Proof of Service, R. at 000018-20). Feeley's father, Thomas Feeley, accepted the service from the process server not once advising the process server that Feeley did not reside there. (Opp'n to Mot. To Dismiss, R. at 000026). In fact, Feeley's father was "willing to receive" the Summons and Complaint. (Proof of Service, R. at 000087). More specifically, Thomas Feeley "specifically confirmed" with the process server that Feeley did live at the Bass Drive address, that he was only out of town for a while and that he would be sure to give Feeley the Summons and Complaint when he returned home. (Aff. of Thomas Feeley, R. at 000088). Thus, at the time of service, Milyanovich's counsel believed service was perfected by serving Thomas Feeley at the address that Feeley had represented through his Driver's Licence and Vehicle Registration was his current address. However, admittedly, Feeley was technically not served as a "minor" under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(d)(2)(A). While Milyanovich is certain that Feeley received a copy of the Summons and Complaint within the time for service, that Summons and Complaint were not "delivered" directly to him by the process server. Rather, Feeley received a copy in the mail and, it can reasonably presumed, from his father, Thomas Feeley. However, again, Milyanovich's counsel believed service was perfected on Feeley.

Unfortunately, however, service had not yet been perfected on the other Defendant,

Eckert, and on June 14, 2007, Milyanovich moved for an extension of time to serve only Eckert,

demonstrating good cause for the extension. (Docket, R. at 000001). That request was granted on June 25, 2007. (Docket, R. at 000001). Only Eckert was included in the extension request because service was believed to be made on Feeley.

With service on April 16, 2007, Feeley's response was due on May 16, 2007. However, no response was filed within the time required by law. (Docket, R. at 1). Thus, there was no defense time raised for lack of jurisdiction over the person or insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process, as required by Rule 12(h), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Instead, Feeley intentionally waited to respond to the Complaint. Milyanovich's counsel had made efforts to resolve the case without moving for a default, perhaps too patiently.

Finally, on or about August 10, 2007, after waiting more than 120 days since the filing of the Complaint and after the Statute of Limitations had passed, Feeley filed his Motion to Dismiss. (Mot. to Dismiss, R. at 000010-24). In short, in his Motion to Dismiss Feeley argues that he is an unmarried infant under the Rules and he was not delivered a copy of the Summons and Complaint. Id. at 000011. In support, Feeley submits an affidavit stating that (1) he has resided in "Bogalusa, Louisiana, since [he] was 16 years old"; (2) the only exception is "the first few months of 2005"; that he has not lived at 2056 Bass Drive, Vancleave, Mississippi "since 2002"; and that he was "never served with any process or pleadings." Id. at 000022.

Milyanovich responded by filing an Opposition and a Supplement in Support. (Opp'n, R. at 000025-46; Supp., R. at 000048-58). In the Opposition, Milyanovich pointed out that (1) service was made on Feeley's father and by mail upon Feeley at what Feeley represented to the State of Mississippi on more than one occasion was his residential address; (2) Feeley unduly delayed brining the insufficiency of process argument under Rule 12(h), and it should be deemed waived; and (3) because both Feeley and his father blatantly lied in support the Motion, and

given the overwhelming evidence as to Feeley's proper residence, the Court should permit discovery on the issue of Feeley's residence and service matters. <u>Id.</u> In particular, because Feeley was blatantly untruthful in the Affidavit [clearly he lived in Mississippi during the year of the automobile accident when he worked at the Fred's store], the entire Affidavit – including the assertion that he was not served – should be disregarded. <u>Id.</u> Additionally, Milyanovich argued that if service was in some way improper, that Milyanovich demonstrated good cause for an extension of the service deadline. <u>Id.</u>

Feeley filed a Reply (Reply, R. at 000060-64). Feeley argued that Milyanovich's request for an extension of the service deadline was untimely. <u>Id.</u> Further, Feeley argues that because he was a minor under Mississippi law (though allegedly living in Louisiana) he should receive the benefit of Mississippi law on that and he should have been delivered a copy in addition to one to his father. Id.

On October 11, 2007, the fully briefed Motion was heard (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 3-12). At the hearing, the court heard argument from counsel, then issued its ruling. <u>Id.</u> The court granted the Motion to Dismiss. <u>Id.</u> In follow-up to its ruling, the court issued a Judgment of Dismissal on October 16, 2007. (J., R. at 000066).

In part, because at the hearing there was only a brief explanation for the oral decision, in particular the decision to deny an extension of time for service (Tr. Vol. I, p. 12), and because the October 16, 2007 Judgment was silent as to the reasoning behind the decision (J., R. at 000066), on October 24, 2007 Milyanovich filed her Motion to Reconsider. (Mot. to Reconsider, R. at 000067-109). Again, Feeley filed a response (Resp., R. at 000111-000114) and the matter was heard. (Tr. Vol. I, p. 12-21). On December 13, 2007, the court heard argument from counsel and issued its ruling. <u>Id.</u> Again, at the hearing the ruling was announced, with no explanation (Tr.

Vol. I, p. 21), and the Order denying the Motion to Reconsider was likewise silent. (Order, R. at 000116). This appeal follows. (Not. of Appeal, R. at 000117).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Initially, Feeley's Motion to Dismiss should not have been granted because his argument for insufficiency of process was not raised timely. Regardless, his Motion to Dismiss had no merit because Feeley cannot claim minority protection under Mississippi law while claiming the domiciliary of Louisiana where he is an adult. Similarly, under Mississippi law Feeley was emancipated and was not entitled to minority protection under Mississippi law because, as an emancipated adult, he was properly served. Moreover, "minor" status is irrelevant for purposes of non-residence service.

Regardless, even if service is deemed insufficient, Milyanovich demonstrated good cause for the failure to serve Feeley and should have been given more time to cure any insufficiency. A plaintiff can demonstrate good case even though the 120-day time period expired before asking for more time to cure any alleged deficiency. Because of the good cause demonstrated, namely, Feeley's own subterfuge and evasion, the complaint should not have been dismissed.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Whether the circuit court erred in granting defendant's motion to dismiss because the plaintiff did show good cause why process was not served within time allowed by Rule 4(h) when based upon a precept of law, is "plenary"; otherwise, it is an abuse-of-discretion standard. Bennett v. McCaffrey, 937 So. 2d 11, 15 (Miss. 2006).

B. Feeley did not timely raise the issue of insufficiency of process, thus the motion to dismiss should have been denied

Feeley's Motion to Dismiss should have been denied because of his undue delay in filing the Motion. A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person or insufficiency of process is waived because it should have been raised in the responsive pleading due thirty (30) days after service. See generally, Rule 12(h), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. In this case, and as discussed further herein, Feeley, knowing of the lawsuit because of communications between his counsel and Milyanovich's counsel, because of communications between his insurer and Milyanovich's counsel, and because of the clear service on his father and service on him as discussed further herein, intentionally waited approximately 86 days after his answer was due, to file his Motion to Dismiss. This was an intentional delay so that it would put Milyanovich beyond the 120 days required for service and presumably give Milyanovich no opportunity to correct any alleged deficiencies. Ironically, Feeley wants to hold Milyanovich to a 120 day deadline, yet he has no deadline of his own. Feeley's Motion to Dimiss was untimely and it should have been denied as such.

C. Feeley should not be allowed to claim Mississippi's Minority Protection while claiming the domiciliary of Louisiana, and, as a adult, service was proper

Feeley argues that service was invalid because he is a minor under Mississippi law and therefore personal service was required. It would be a gross abuse of process however, to allow Feeley to claim he is domiciled in Louisiana and therefore service is invalid, and at the same time claim that he should receive the protections of Mississippi minority status. Under Louisiana law, Feeley attained the age of majority at 18. See LA Civ. Code Art. 29. (R. at 000089-91). While procedural rules of Mississippi apply, substantive issues such as a person's status as an adult or

minor are governed by the state of domicile. According to Feeley's sworn affidavit, he is domiciled in Louisiana. Thus, Mississippi should treat Feeley as an adult for purposes of service of process.

Once treated as an adult, Milyanovich would have shown service was proper via substitute service. Because, at a minimum, Milyanovich demonstrated that although Feeley claimed he was domiciled in Louisiana, Feeley was also a resident of 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. That was demonstrated by the fact that at the time of the accident in 2004, he held a Mississippi driver's license, and owned a car registered to that address. (MS Motor Veh. Registr., R. at 000040-41; Police Rep., R. at 000033). Moreover, at the time of service it was clearly shown that Feeley had renewed his Mississippi license (Driver License Record, R. at 000101) and had another vehicle also registered in Mississippi to 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. (MS Motor Veh. Registr., R. at 000044-45). Also, Thomas Feeley "specifically confirmed" with the process server that Feeley did live at the Bass Drive address, that he was only out of town for a while and that he would be sure to give Feeley the Summons and Complaint when he returned home. (Aff. of Thomas Feeley, R. at 000088). Thus, service was properly made on Feeley, an adult domiciled in Louisiana but also residing in Mississippi.

D. Feeley is not a "minor" under Mississippi law because he is emancipated, and, as a adult, service was proper

Again, Feeley argues that service was invalid because he is a minor under Mississippi law and therefore personal service was required. However, Feeley, who at the time of service was twenty (20) years old, only three (3) months shy of his twenty-first (21st) birthday, should not have been considered a minor, but should have been considered an adult. The comments to Rule 4(d)(2)(A) specifically state: "This rule is not intended to depart from the basic concepts of

traditional Mississippi practice which must still be followed." In support of that comment, it states: "See: section 232, Griffith, Mississippi Chancery Practice."

Rule 4 certainly contemplates an emancipated minor as it makes a distinction between an unmarried infant and someone other than an unmarried infant. Quite frankly, a married infant would be served as an adult for purposes of service of process. Certainly, an emancipated minor would be served as an adult. Mississippi Code Annotated § 93-11-65 (2007) addresses the emancipation of minors. As the comments to Rule 4 reference chancery practice when dealing with the issue of minors, it should come as no surprise that you should turn to chancery law when determining minor status. Under § 93-11-65(8)(d), a court may determine that emancipation occurs when the child: "Voluntarily moves from the home of the custodial parent or guardian, establishes independent living arrangements, obtains full-time employment and discontinues educational endeavors prior to attaining the age of twenty-one (21) years."

In this case, according to his own affidavit, Feeley voluntarily moved from the home of his custodial parent at the age of 16, he moved into the home of his godparents in Louisiana, he became domiciled in Louisiana where he attained the age of majority at the age of 18. Therefore, the court erred in failing to determine the validity of service because Milyanovich demonstrated that Feeley was an emancipated minor, thus, again, for the reasons previously asserted, substitute service was valid.

E. "Minor" status is irrelevant for purposes of non-resident service and, as a result, service was proper

Under Mississippi's Non-resident Motor Vehicle Statute, Mississippi Code Annotated § 13-3-63 (2007), a non-resident's status as an adult or a minor is irrelevant for purposes of service of process. Under § 13-3-63, service of process upon a non-resident may be obtained by service

upon the Secretary of State, who will then mail a copy of such process to the non-resident defendant at his or her last known address. Furthermore, service of process under Section 13-3-63 shall have the same force and effect as if the non-resident defendant had been personally served with such process within the State of Mississippi. See Miss. Code Ann. § 13-3-63.

In this case, Feeley claims to be domiciled in Louisiana. If so, minor status is irrelevant. Quite frankly, the way service on Feeley was made, Feeley received more notice than he would have under § 13-3-63. The Mississippi Secretary of State would have mailed a copy of the Summons and Complaint to the last known address. Even if a minor. In this case, that last known address was 2056 Bass Dr., Vancleave, MS 39565. Here, service was personally made at that address on Feeley's father, Thomas Feeley and a copy was mailed to the last known address. Feeley is simply trying to pick and choose when and which Mississippi law applies to him and when and which Mississippi law does not apply to him. Under Mississippi's Non-resident Motor Vehicle Statute service was proper.

F. If service was insufficient, Milyanovich demonstrated good cause why Feeley was not served within the 120-day time period – Feeley's own efforts to evade process

If service is deemed invalid, Milyanovich demonstrated to the court below good cause why Feeley was not served within the 120-day time period. It is worth mentioning that the underlying case against Feeley has virtually clear liability. Feeley was driving at a "very high rate of speed" when the accident occurred. (Police Rep., R. at 000032). Feeley admitted to the police that he was chasing a suspected shoplifter from his workplace at the time, a Fred's store also on Highway 613. <u>Id.</u> The officer observed a long skid mark in the road, approximately 150 feet. <u>Id.</u> at 000032-33. Feeley was estimated to be traveling at 60 miles per hour. <u>Id.</u> at 000034. Moreover, there is no reasonable possibility whatsoever that Milyanovich can be found

comparatively at fault in any way. In contrast, Feeley showed a wanton and reckless disregard for the safety of Milyanovich and other drivers on Highway 613 by pursuing "vigilante justice" and exceeding the lawful speed limit.

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