SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-00130

LORETTA MILYANOVICH

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

DOUGLAS E. FEELEY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

Appeal from Jackson County Circuit Court

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

H. BENJAMIN MULLEN (MSB JESSICA B. McNEEL (MSB Bryan, Nelson, Schroeder, Castigliola & Banahan, PLLC Post Office Drawer 1529 Pascagoula, Mississippi 39568-1529 Telephone: (228)762-6631

Telephone: (228)/62-6631 Facsimile: (228)769-6392

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-TS-00130

LORETTA MILYANOVICH

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VERSUS

DOUGLAS E. FEELEY

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

Statement of the Issue
Statement of the Case
Statement of the Facts
Summary of the Argument
Argument and Citation of Authorities
I. The trial court was correct in granting the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss due to Plaintiff's failure to properly effect service of process upon the then-minor Defendant pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(2)(A)
II. The trial court correctly granted Feeley's motion to dismiss because the plaintiff did not effect service of process within the 120-day time period prescribed by Rule4(h) nor did the plaintiff file a motion for extension of time within the 120-day period to show good cause as to why process was not effected within the time allowed by Rule 4(h)12
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases:	Bang v. Pittman, 749 So.2d 47 (Miss.1999)
	Boardman v. United Serv. Automobile Ass'n, 470 So.2d 1024 (Miss. 1985) 10
	<u>Hardy v. McClellan</u> , 53 Miss. 512 (Miss. 1876)
	<u>In Interest of Edwards</u> , 298 So.2d 703 (Miss. 1974)
	Kingston v. Splash Pools of Mississippi, Inc., 956 So.2d 1062 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
	Mitchell v. Brown, 835 So.2d 110 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)
	<u>Parker v. Smith</u> , 117 So. 249 (Miss. 1928)
	<u>Peters v. United States</u> , 9 F.3d 344, 345 (5 th Cir. 1993)
	<u>Price v. Crone</u> , 44 Miss. 571 (Miss. 1870)
	Powe v. Roy Anderson Construction Co., 910 So.2d 1197 (Ct. App. Miss. 2005) 11
	Systems Signs Supplies v. United States Dept. of Justice, 903 F.2d 1011 (5th Cir. 1990)
	Watters v. Stripling, 675 So.2d 1242 (Miss. 1996)
	<u>Young v. Hooker</u> , 753 So.2d 456 (Ct. App. Miss. 1999)
	Zurich American Ins. Co. v. Goodwin, 920 So.2d 427, 435 (Miss.2006)
Statutes and Rules:	
	Miss. Code Ann. §1-3-21(1972)
	Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-49
	Miss.R.Civ.P. 4 supra
	Miss. R. Civ. P. 12
	U.S. Const. Amend. XIV, Section 1

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The Appellee, Douglas E. Feeley (hereinafter "Feeley), submits this Statement of the Issue as a more concise version of the issue on appeal:

Whether the trial Court abused its discretion in granting Feeley's Motion to Dismiss and denying Milyanovich's Motion for Additional Time to Serve Process.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.

Nature of the Case, Proceedings and Disposition

This lawsuit began when the Appellant, Milyanovich, filed her Complaint on February 28, 2007, two (2) days before the expiration of the statute of limitations, against Feeley and Eckert alleging damages resulting from a motor vehicle accident that occurred between Plaintiff and Defendants on March 2, 2004. C.P.4. A summons was issued by the Jackson County Circuit Clerk on March 1, 2007, and directed to Feeley who was identified at an address shown on the summons as "2056 Bass Drive, Vancleave, MS 39565." C.P.8. The return for the summons issued to Feeley indicated that a private process server was unable to deliver copies to said person within Jackson County, and on April 16, 2007, he attempted to effectuate service of process through substitute service by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint with Feeley's father, Thomas Feeley at the Vancleave address indicated on the face of the summons. C.P.20. The private process server further indicated that he mailed first class mail, postage prepaid, a copy of the summons and complaint to the 2056 Bass Drive, Vancleave, MS 39565 address. C.P.20.

On August 10, 2007, Feeley specially appeared through counsel to file his Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Rules 4(h) and 12(b)(4) and (5). C.P.10. In his Motion to Dismiss, Feeley challenged the timeliness of service of process, sufficiency of process and sufficiency of service of process alleging that C.P.10. First, Feeley asserted that the Bass Drive address was his parents' address, and he had not resided at that address since 2002. C.P.11. Moreover, Feeley asserted that he had lived with his godparents in Bogalusa, Louisiana since 2002 when was

sixteen (16) years old, and he was residing in Louisiana at the time of the motor vehicle accident and at the time the private process server attempted to effectuate service of process through substitute service on April 16, 2007. C.P.11. Further, Thomas Feeley, Feeley's father, informed the private process server at the time he delivered the summons to him that Feeley did not live at that address; however, the process server asked Thomas Feeley to deliver the summons to the Defendant anyway. C.P. 23. Additionally, on April 16, 2007, Feeley was an unmarried infant having been born on July 23, 1986, but over the age of 12 years which pursuant to Rule 4(d)(2)(A) requires that perfection of service on an unmarried infant over the age of 12 years, requires a copy of the summons and complaint must be delivered to the infant and to his parent or guardian with whom he lives. Feeley asserted that this was not done in this case, and process and service of process was therefore insufficient. C.P.11. Finally, Feeley asserted that more than 120 days had elapsed since suit was filed with no further attempt at proper service of process on him.

A hearing was held on Feeley's Motion to Dismiss on October 11, 2007, and on October 15, 2007, the Circuit Court of Jackson County entered an Order granting Feeley's motion for reasons set forth in Feeley's motion and based on Miss.R.Civ.P.4(h) for failure to serve process on Feeley within 120 days from the date of fling of the Complaint and for insufficiency of process and insufficiency of service of process pursuant to Miss.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(4) and (5). C.P.66. The Order entered on October 11, 2007, denied Milyanovich's motion for additional time to serve process on Feeley.

On October 24, 2007, Milyanovich filed a Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider the Order entered by the Jackson County Circuit Court on October 11, 2007, granting Feeley's Motion to

Dismiss. C.P.60. Feeley filed his Response in Opposition to Milyanovich's Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider on November 13, 2007. C.P.111. A hearing was held on Milyanovich's Motion to Reconsider on December 13, 2007, and on December 17, 2007, the Circuit Court of Jackson County entered an Order denying and overruling Milyanovich's Motion to Reconsider Order Granting Motion to Dismiss and Judgment thereon. It is from these rulings that Milyanovich takes this appeal.

В.

Statement of the Facts

This case arises out of an automobile accident that occurred on March 2, 2004, involving the Plaintiff, LORETTA MILYANOVICH (hereinafter "Milyanovich"), Defendant, DOUGLAS E. FEELEY (hereinafter "Feeley"), and Co-Defendant, KAREN J. ECKERT (hereinafter "Eckert"). Suit was filed by Milyanovich two (2) days before the stature of limitations expired. At the time of the accident in question, a Mississippi Uniform Accident Report was prepared listing Feeley's date of birth as "07/23/1986." C.P. 33. The Accident Report also listed the address indicated on Feeley's Mississippi driver's license "2056 Bass Drive, Vancleave, MS." C.P. 33. There is no disputing the fact Feeley was a minor of (17) eighteen years old at the time of the accident. Moreover, there is no disputing the fact that Feeley was a minor of (20) twenty years old at the time in which the private process service attempted to serve process on him via substitue service in April of 2007.

Additionally, Feeley did not reside with his biological parents at the address listed on his driver's license. Instead, he had, since 2002, lived full-time with his godparents in Bogalusa, Louisiana where he was living at the time of the accident and at the time the private process

server attempted to serve him at his parents' Vancleave address. On April 16, 2007, a private process server attempted to serve process on Feeley by leaving a copy of the summons and complaint with Feeley's father, Douglas E. Feeley, despite Mr. Feeley's protests that his son did not live there. C.P. 23. Unfettered, the process server attempted to serve process on Feeley via substitute service when he requested that Mr. Feeley pass the summons and complaint along to his son. C.P. 23. Moreover, the process server attempted to perfect service when he later mailed a second copy of the summons and complaint to the 2056 Bass Drive address, despite the fact that Feeley did not reside at that address.

Despite the fact that Feeley was living in Bogalusa, Louisiana at the time of the accident and at the time in which service of process was attempted on him, Milyanovich never attempted to properly serve Feeley in the manner necessitated for a minor as clearly outlined in Rule 4(d)(2)(A).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case involves a motor vehicle negligence cause of action as pled in the original complaint filed herein. Therefore, the time for filing suit is controlled by Miss. Code Ann. §15-1-49 which provides a three (3) year statute of limitation. Since this accident occurred on March 2, 2004, Milyanovich had until March 2, 2007, in which to file suit. While Milyanovich did file suit within that time, she failed to perfect service of process on Feeley within 120-day prescribed for effecting service of process after the filing of the Complaint. As was clearly indicated on the Mississippi Uniform Accident Report, Feeley's date of birth is July, 23, 1986, therefore there was no disputing the fact that he was 17 years old at the time of the accident and 20 years old at the time in which the private process service attempted to serve process on him, a minor pursuant to Mississippi law at all relevant times during the pendency of this litigation. Therefore, Milyanovich had 120 days from the date of filing her Complaint to perfect service of process on Feeley. This was not done. The Jackson County Circuit Court, after reviewing all of the relevant evidence, correctly applied Miss.R.Civ.P.4(h) and dismissed the case. Finally, the Jackson County Circuit Court correctly denied Plaintiff's requests for additional time to serve process because the request was not timely made.

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

Ĭ.

The trial court was correct in granting the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss due to Plaintiff's failure to properly effect service of process upon the then-minor Defendant pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(2)(A).

Rule 4(d)(2)(A) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

Summons and Complant: Person to Be Served. Service by sheriffiff or process server shall be made as follows: [U]pon an unmarried infant by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to any one of the following: the infant's mother, father, legal guardian (of either the person or the estate), or the person having care of such infant or with whom he lives, and if the infant be 12 years of age or older, by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to both the infant and the appropriate person as designated above.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(d)(2)(A) (emphasis added). This Court in interpreting this rule has consistently held that no jurisdiction can be had over the person of an infant, except by the issuance and service of process, in the manner required by [Mississippi] statute. See, e.g. Parker v. Smith, 117 So. 249 (Miss. 1928); Price v. Crone, 44 Miss. 571 (Miss. 1870). In Mississippi, an "infant" is defined as any person under the age of 21 years. Miss. Code Ann. §1-3-21(1972). Moreover, it is generally held that an infant can neither acknowledge or waive process required by law, and court has no jurisdiction of person until process has been served upon [the] minor and his parents, or persons standing loco parentis; notice to parents may be waived by them, but not process on the minor. In Interest of Edwards, 298 So.2d 703 (Miss. 1974). Finally, if the infant be not legally served with process, the appearance of his solicitor, although employed by him, will not bind the infant. Hardy v. McClellan, 53 Miss. 512 (Miss. 1876).

The Parker case, supra, decidedly set forth how Rule 4(d)(2)(A) would be applied and

interpreted. In that case, the minor was not served with process, and the appellant argued on appeal from justice court to the Circuit Court of Bolivar County that the minor having appeared in person before the justice court, became subject to the jurisdiction thereof, and such appearance would cure any defect in process. Parker, 117 So. 249 at 250. The circuit court dismissed the action for failure to have jurisdiction over the minor, and conceding that this rule is applicable to adults not under disability, it could have no application to minors. Id. On appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court, that Court affirmed the lower court's decision holding that an infant can waive none of his rights; that no jurisdiction can be had over the person of an infant, except by issuance and service of process in the manner required by our statute. Id. That court additionally held that a mere reading of the summons to him was not complying with the statute; instead, it was necessary that a copy of the summons be delivered to [the minor]. Id.

In the case at bar, Feeley was a minor at the time that Milyanovich filed her lawsuit. He was born on July 23, 1986, which placed him over the age of 12 years as of February 28, 2007. Mississippi R. Civ. P. 4(d)(2)(A) requires that a minor over the age of 12 years be served personally in addition to service on his parent or guardian. It is undisputed that the Uniform Traffic Report, clearly lists Feeley's date of birth as July 23, 1986. The fact that the Plaintiff and her counsel had a copy of the police accident report which clearly showed the Defendant's date of birth, and a simple calculation would have revealed that he was under the age of 21 years which is considered an infant, or minor, in the State of Mississippi. Miss. Code Ann. §1-3-21. Yet, despite this knowledge, Plaintiff's counsel made absolutely no effort to effect process on this, then-minor, Defendant in compliance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Therefore, Milyanovich has no justifiable excuse for failing to properly follow the procedure so

clearly laid out in Mississippi Rule 4(d)(2)(A) for service of process on an unmarried minor.

On April 16, 2007, Milyanovich's private process server sought to effect service of process on Feeley by serving Feeley at his parents' address of 2056 Bass Drive, Vancleave, Mississippi. However, the Defendant's father's affidavit clearly attests that he informed the process server that the Defendant did not live at that address, and that he had been a resident of Bogalusa, Louisiana since 2002. Despite Thomas Feeley's announcement, the process server left a copy of the summons and complaint with the Defendant's father and requested he pass same on to his son. Moreover, Thomas Feeley's affidavit further avows that he did not give the summons and complaint to his son.

The fact that the process server attempted to effect substitute service on the Defendant's father with whom the Defendant did not live by leaving only one copy of the summons and complaint clearly indicates that the process server had no appreciation for the age of the Defendant nor did he realize that the Defendant remained under the disability of infancy.

Moreover, the process server attempted to perfect process by mailing, postage prepaid a copy of the summons and complaint to the Defendant's parents address. However, service was never obtained on the Defendant and process was certainly not perfected. In short, Feeley did not reside with his father at the address listed as 2056 Bass Drive, Vancleave, Mississippi; therefore, he would not qualify as a person over the age of 16 who resided at the address along with the Defendant with whom substitute service could be made. Second and more importantly, pursuant to Rule 4(d)(2)(A) Feeley, an unmarried infant over the age of 12, had to have been served process in addition to his father, mother or legal guardian. This was simply not done even in light of the process server learning of Feeley's place of residence. Milyanovich made no further

attempt to effect service of process on Feeley.

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